

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)

Filippini G, Kruja J, He D, Del Giovane C

Filippini G, Kruja J, He D, Del Giovane C. Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2021, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD013874. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013874.

www.cochranelibrary.com

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol) Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	4
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	8
REFERENCES	9
ADDITIONAL TABLES	13
APPENDICES	17
WHAT'S NEW	18
HISTORY	18
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	18
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	18



[Intervention Protocol]

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis

Graziella Filippini¹, Jera Kruja², Dian He³, Cinzia Del Giovane⁴

¹Scientific Director's Office, Carlo Besta Foundation and Neurological Institute, Milan, Italy. ²Neurology, UHC Mother Theresa, Tirana, Albania. ³Department of Neurology, Affiliated Hospital of Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China. ⁴Institute of Primary Health Care (BIHAM), University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland

Contact address: Graziella Filippini, graziella.filippini@istituto-besta.it, filippini.graziella@gmail.com.

Editorial group: Cochrane Multiple Sclerosis and Rare Diseases of the CNS Group. **Publication status and date:** Edited (no change to conclusions), published in Issue 3, 2021.

Citation: Filippini G, Kruja J, He D, Del Giovane C. Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2021, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD013874. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013874.

Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Objectives

This is a protocol for a Cochrane Review (intervention). The objectives are as follows:

The main objective is to assess the benefits and harms of rituximab compared to placebo or another DMT for people with multiple sclerosis.

Specific comparisons include:

- rituximab compared with placebo or other DMTs as first choice treatment for relapsing forms of MS;
- rituximab when switching from another DMT compared with placebo or other DMTs for relapsing forms of MS;
- rituximab compared with placebo or other DMTs as first choice treatment for progressive forms of MS; and
- rituximab when switching from another DMT compared with placebo or other DMTs for progressive forms of MS.



BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic immune-mediated disease of the central nervous system. The global prevalence of MS is estimated at 36 per 100,000 people, which means there are 2.8 million adults living with MS in the world (MSIF 2020). MS is present in all regions of the world, but prevalence is noticeably higher in Europe and the Americas (MSIF 2020). There are at least twice as many females (69%) with MS as there are males (31%) (MSIF 2020). MS can occur at any age, but the average age at which MS is diagnosed from from 30 to 33 years (MSIF 2020). MS is the most common neurological cause of disability for young adults (MSIF 2020).

characterised MS is pathologically by inflammation, demyelination, and axonal and neuronal loss. Clinically, it is characterised by recurrent relapses and worsening disability. In 1996, the clinical course of MS was classified as relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS), secondary progressive MS (SPMS), primary progressive MS (PPMS), and progressive relapsing MS (PRMS) (Lublin 1996). These forms of MS were used to design trials of interventions over two decades. An updated classification of MS forms was produced in 2013 (Lublin 2014). The concept of disease activity was added, based on the presence of clinical relapse or new magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) lesions in the brain. The new classification included: (i) active or inactive relapsing MS, with or without worsening; and (ii) active or inactive primary or secondary progressive disease, with or without progression. Two new forms were also added: clinically isolated syndrome (CIS) and radiologically isolated syndrome (RIS). PRMS was no longer used in the updated classification (Lublin 2014). Worldwide, 85% of people with MS are initially diagnosed with RRMS and 12% with progressive MS. The remaining 3% are given an unknown disease type on diagnosis (MSIF 2020).

Description of the intervention

Rituximab is a chimeric monoclonal antibody and is approved for the treatment of adults with B cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic leukaemia, rheumatoid arthritis, granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's granulomatosis), microscopic polyarteritis and pemphigus vulgaris (FDA 2020a). Neurologists have used rituximab off-label to treat neuromyelitis optica (Damato 2016), myasthenia gravis (Banerjee 2018), autoimmune encephalitis (Nepal 2020), autoimmune neuropathies and myopathies (Fasano 2017), and multiple sclerosis (European Commission 2017; Sarsour 2020). This drug is marketed by Genentech-Biogen in the US under the brand name Rituxan, and by Roche in Europe under the brand name MabThera.

Rituximab is administered by intravenous infusion at single doses of 500 mg or 1000 mg, two weeks apart. The maintenance dose is 500 mg or 1000 mg every six to 12 months. The alternative induction dose, or in cases of disease breakthrough, is 375 mg/m² every week for four weeks. However, a treatment protocol has not yet been established; induction and maintenance doses may change based on the type of MS, MRI lesion load, clinical response and CD19 or C20 cell counts. The summary of product characteristics states that rituximab should be administered under the close supervision of an experienced physician. Serum rituximab's half-life is reported to be 76.3 hours (Maloney 1997). The most frequently observed short-term adverse events in people receiving rituximab are infusion-related reactions (Caldito 2020; FDA 2020a). The majority of these reactions occur during the first infusion or within 24 hours of the infusion. The final report of the Rheumatoid Arthritis Global Clinical Trial Program, based on over 11 years' followup, reported that rituximab remained well tolerated over time and for multiple courses (van Vollenhoven 2015). Under longterm therapy with B-cell-depleting drugs, and with alternative immunomodulatory agents for MS, immunoglobulin deficiency syndromes can occur that may be associated with severe infections (Caldito 2020; Hallberg 2019; Luna 2020; Tsao 2019; van Vollenhoven 2015). Hepatitis B virus (HBV) reactivation following chemotherapy that includes rituximab has been reported in people who have either had hepatitis B or are a carrier of HBV (Evens 2011; Pourcher 2020). Progressive multifocal leucoencephalopathy (PML), a rare but serious brain infection caused by a virus, can occur in rituximab-treated people with hematologic malignancies or with autoimmune diseases. The majority of people with hematologic malignancies diagnosed with PML received rituximab in combination with chemotherapy or as part of a haematopoietic stem cell transplant (FDA 2020a). People with autoimmune diseases diagnosed with PML had prior or concurrent immunosuppressive therapy (Berger 2018; FDA 2020a). Most cases of PML were diagnosed within 12 months of their last infusion of rituximab (FDA 2020a). Rituximab is listed as having "no or very low risk for PML" by Yukitake 2018. Cardiac and vascular events (hypotension, hypertension, arrhythmias and angina) have been reported with rituximab (Caldito 2020). Two registry studies in Sweden showed no evidence of an increased risk of cancer with rituximab use, either in 3585 people with rheumatic disease (Wadstrom 2017), or using evidence from 4187 people with MS (Alping 2020). However, the results of the Caldito 2020 study showed an association between malignant melanoma and breast cancer with rituximab use. The authors of those studies suggested that these findings warrant further evaluation in the context of cancer epidemiology. Most of the available data relating to rituximab and pregnancy suggests that the majority of pregnancies occurred more than 12 months after the woman's last rituximab treatment. No increased rates of deformities have been observed so far (Chakravarty 2011; Das 2018; Kümpfel 2019; Smith 2020).

Several national and international guidelines on the use of DMTs have been produced since the 2013 classification of MS forms. Common to all guidelines is a moderate or low level of evidence available to assign strength to treatment recommendations, because there were few studies that directly compared different DMTs or assessed the sequential use of specific DMT combinations (Table 1). Recommendations vary among guidelines concerning specific drugs, reflecting – among other things – the differences in regulatory agencies' recommendations and different regional or local health policies. For example, azathioprine is approved in Germany (DGN 2020) and the American guideline (Rae-Grant 2018) contains a specific recommendation on the off-label use of azathioprine for people who, for financial or geographical reasons, do not have access to approved DMTs. The European guideline does not include off-label recommendations (Montalban 2018), as regulations on this topic vary broadly between different European countries. For example, the use of rituximab in the clinical setting has increased rapidly within Sweden for treating relapsing MS, since under existing Swedish free right to prescription provisions, the treating hospital, rather than the pharmaceutical company,

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

assumes responsibility and the liabilities associated with offlabel rituximab use (Spelman 2018). The data from the national Swedish MS registry showed an increasing prescription rate of rituximab in relation to other DMTs during the years 2011 to 2016 for the nation of Sweden. In June 2017, the proportion of patients starting rituximab treatment among all patients who initiated a DMT treatment was as high as 53.3% (Berntsson 2018). This rapid escalation was secondary to both a perceived effectiveness advantage and a marked reduction in the overall costs of treatment, relative to interferons or new DMTs (Salzer 2016; Spelman 2018). Rituximab is recommended by the Middle East and North Africa Committee (MENACTRIMS) Consensus as an off-label treatment for highly active MS and as an escalation therapy for all levels of MS activity in special populations, such as refugees, or in countries where other appropriate options are not available (Yamout 2020) (Table 1).

In recent years, there has been a rapidly-evolving change in definitions of MS forms. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved oral siponimod (FDA 2019a) and oral ozanimod (FDA 2020b) for CIS, RRMS and active SPMS (aSPMS), and approved oral cladribine for RRMS and aSPMS (FDA 2019b). These FDA approvals allowed people with SPMS to be treated with DMTs for the first time.

How the intervention might work

The inflammation in the central nervous system in MS stems from complex interactions between T cells and antigen-presenting cells, such as B cells and myeloid cells (macrophages, dendritic cells and microglia) (Comi 2021; Zhong 2020). The pro-inflammatory role of B cells in MS involves antigen presentation to activate pathogenic T cells and macrophages, production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, formation and maintenance of ectopic lymphoid organs in the central nervous system (Greenfield 2018; Hauser 2015; Sabatino 2019). B cells are highly selective for antigens bound to their cell receptor (BCR) (Greenfield 2018). The antigen-BCR complex is internalised and processed, its constituent peptides are then complexed with the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules, and the antigen-MHC complex is transported to the cell surface where it can activate T cells (Th1 and Th17) by involvement of the T cell receptor and costimulatory molecules (Batista 2009). In MS, priming of T cells is caused by autoreactive B cells that demonstrate higher levels of antigen-presenting activity compared to B cells of healthy controls or individuals with other neuroinflammatory diseases (Jelcic 2018; Mathias 2017). The binding of autoantigen to BCR also causes aberrant B cells to produce pro-inflammatory and regulatory cytokines. B cells of people with MS cultured in vitro have been found to secrete higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and lower levels of regulatory cytokines (Bar-Or 2010; Duddy 2007). In the milieu of proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines and lymphotoxin signalling, B cells support the development of ectopic B-cell follicles that have been detected in the meninges of people with secondary progressive MS (Serafini 2004).

Rituximab binds selectively to the CD20 antigen expressed on the surface of pre-B cells, mature and memory B cells and some plasmablasts, but not B cell progenitors (pro-B cells) and differentiated plasma cells, i.e. B cells that do not express CD20 (Greenfield 2018; St Clair 2010). Therefore, administration of rituximab causes selective loss of circulating and tissuebased B cells that are responsible for antigen presentation and cytokine production, without affecting B cell reconstitution or pre-existing humoral immunity. Mechanisms of B cell lysis include primarily complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) but also antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) (Greenfield 2018).

Rituximab was detectable in the serum of people three to six months after completion of treatment (FDA 2020a). Following intravenous administration of rituximab, B lymphocytes typically remain depleted in peripheral blood for six to nine months (Greenfield 2018; Roll 2006). In non-blood tissues, including the central nervous system, the extent and duration of depletion is not fully known but is likely to be partial, to depend on the dose, and to be modulated by individual factors such as genetic background (Greenfield 2018).

Why it is important to do this review

Rituximab is not officially approved for the treatment of MS, but its off-label use for relapsing form of MS is widely used in high-medium- and low-income countries (Bourdette 2016). Several published observational data have strengthened the evidence for its effectiveness and safety in MS, and reported a discontinuation rate that is lower than that of other DMTs (Granqvist 2018; Salzer 2016). The identification of benefits and harms of rituximab for both relapsing MS and progressive forms of MS, including switching drug regimens, increases this review's importance and novelty for implementing cost-effective treatments that target advancing disability.

Given that the period of patent protection of rituximab has expired, it is extremely unlikely that a registration trial of this treatment for MS will ever been undertaken (Greenfield 2018). Therefore, evidence on benefit and harms of rituximab for MS will not be provided by randomised trials. Considering that rituximab is widely used as off-label treatment in people with MS, we have a duty to people with MS, practitioners and policy makers to do our best to provide these groups with a summary of available evidence that includes non-randomised studies, albeit qualified with a certainty assessment (Reeves 2019).

Ocrelizumab, an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody similar to rituximab, has been approved as a treatment for primary progressive and relapsing MS, but ocrelizumab is not available in low-income countries due to prohibitive costs. Rituximab is a relatively inexpensive treatment, cheaper than any other approved disease-modifying drugs for MS, and it is a feasible option in resource-limited settings (Mathew 2020). With increasing incidence and prevalence of multiple sclerosis globally, especially in low and middle-income countries, it is essential to ensure that people with MS have timely access to safe and effective treatments (Lancet Neurology 2019).

OBJECTIVES

The main objective is to assess the benefits and harms of rituximab compared to placebo or another DMT for people with multiple sclerosis.

Specific comparisons include:

 rituximab compared with placebo or other DMTs as first choice treatment for relapsing forms of MS;

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)

Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

- rituximab when switching from another DMT compared with placebo or other DMTs for relapsing forms of MS;
- rituximab compared with placebo or other DMTs as first choice treatment for progressive forms of MS; and
- rituximab when switching from another DMT compared with placebo or other DMTs for progressive forms of MS.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We will include parallel randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and controlled non-randomised studies of interventions (NRSIs) of between-group design, i.e. open-label extension (OLE) studies, controlled clinical trials, controlled cohort studies, regression discontinuity designs, case-control studies and registries. There are two main justifications for including NRSIs in the review. First, to provide evidence of the effects (benefit and harm) of rituximab for which only a small number of RCTs is available. Second, to address long-term outcomes and different populations that are typical of real-world practice. We will exclude studies of withingroup design, e.g. before-after (pre-post) studies with no control group, interrupted time series and case reports.

We will not apply any limitation with respect to study outcomes, the length of follow-up or methods of analysis. We will include full-text publications, results published in non-commercial trial registries (e.g. ClinicalTrials.gov record) and abstracts if sufficient information is available on study design, characteristics of participants, interventions and outcomes.

Types of participants

We will include adult participants (18 years or older), of either gender, who are treatment-naive or non-responsive to their current DMT. We will accept any definition of non-response that was used in the included studies because the criteria for treatment failure, either using clinical or imaging criteria, are still not agreed upon and different criteria are used in clinical routine practice. Diagnostic criteria for MS are the Poser criteria (Poser 1983), and the McDonald criteria and its revisions (McDonald 2001; Polman 2005; Polman 2011; Thompson 2018). We will include all types of MS, i.e. relapsing MS, secondary progressive MS and primary progressive MS, regardless of disease duration and disability degree according to the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) (Kurtzke 1983).

Types of interventions

The intervention of interest is rituximab, as monotherapy or in combination treatments, irrespective of doses, timing, and frequency of treatment. We will include combination treatments only if they were used in all the comparison groups. We will include studies comparing rituximab with placebo or with approved DMTs, interferon, peg interferon, glatiramer acetate, natalizumab, mitoxantrone, fingolimod, teriflunomide, dimethyl fumarate, cladribine, alemtuzumab, daclizumab, or ocrelizumab. We will include studies that assessed switching to rituximab from another DMT compared to placebo or any other DMT, independently of the reason for switching, method or the time when the switch was made.

Types of outcome measures

We will include short- and long-term outcomes reported in the included studies.

Primary outcomes

- Disability: number of participants with sustained disability worsening based on clinical follow-up visits. Worsening is defined as at least a 1-point increase on the EDSS (Kurtzke 1983), or a 0.5-point increase if the baseline EDSS score was more than 5.5, confirmed during two consecutive clinical examinations separated by an interval of at least six months free of attacks and carried out by the same physician. EDSS is an ordinal scale, where a score of zero is no disability, three indicates mild disability, a score of six cane requirement, seven wheelchair use, and 10 is death from MS. An advantage of the EDSS over other disability measures is its international acceptance, e.g. by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) as a primary endpoint in clinical trials (EMA 2015), and its broad use in trials that enables cross-study comparisons (Meyer-Moock 2014).
- Relapse: number of participants with clinical relapse, based on clinical follow-up visits. 'Relapse' is defined as the appearance of one or more new symptoms due to MS, or the deterioration of pre-existing symptoms, persisting more than 24 hours in the absence of fever and preceded by a period of stability of at least one month (McDonald 2001).
- Serious adverse events (SAEs): number of participants with SAEs, as defined by the authors of the study. If an insufficient number of studies report the total number of SAEs and personyears, we plan to use the number of participants with at least one SAE as defined in the study.

Secondary outcomes

- Annualised relapse rate (ARR): mean number of new relapses per participant, adjusted for the duration of follow-up to annualise it. ARR is a frequently-reported clinical outcome in trials on RRMS.
- Cognitive decline: number of participants with cognitive worsening, assessed according to validated neurocognitive batteries for MS, e.g. the Brief International Cognitive Assessment for Multiple Sclerosis (BICAMS) (Benedict 2020; Langdon 2012).
- Quality of life impairment: number of participants reporting quality of life impairment, assessed according to validated measures, e.g. the Multiple Sclerosis Quality of Life-54 tool (MSQOL-54), which is a multidimensional health-related quality of life measure (Vickrey 1995). MSQOL-54 includes the generic Short-Form 36-item quality of life instrument, supplemented with 18 MS-specific items that were based on expert opinion and literature review. There is no single overall score for MSQOL-54. Two summary scores, physical health and mental health, can be derived from a weighted combination of scale scores (scale scores range from 0 to 100 and a higher scale score indicates improved quality of life).
- Number of participants with new or enlarging T2-weighted MRI lesions. A T2 MRI image provides information about the total number of lesions. T2 lesions appear as bright spots on the scan which indicate areas where the myelin sheath has been damaged or destroyed.

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

- Number of participants with new gadolinium-enhancing positive T1-weighted MRI lesions. A T1 MRI image provides information about current disease activity by highlighting areas of active inflammation.
- Number of participants who discontinued treatment due to adverse events.
- Number of participants with grade 3 and grade 4 adverse events (US Department of Health and Human Services 2017).
- Number of participants with long-term adverse events: common infections, opportunistic infections, hypogammaglobulinemia, cardiovascular events (hypotension, hypertension, arrhythmias and angina), HBV reactivation, cancer, death.
- Number of participants with short-term adverse events: infusion-related reactions.

Search methods for identification of studies

We will not apply any language restrictions to the search.

Electronic searches

We designed search strategies for electronic databases according to methods suggested in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Lefebvre 2019). The Cochrane Multiple Sclerosis and Rare Diseases of the Central Nervous System group's Information Specialist peer-reviewed them. We will search all potential relevant trials registries in detail to detect ongoing as well as completed studies, but not yet published studies.

We will search the following databases and sources.

Databases of medical literature

- Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL, the Cochrane Library) (latest issue) (Appendix 1)
- MEDLINE (PubMed) (1966 to date) (Appendix 2)
- EMBASE (Embase.com) (1974 to date) (Appendix 3)
- CINAHL (EBSCOhost) (1981 to date)

Trials registries and registry platforms to identify ongoing studies and results of completed studies

- World Health Organization (WHO) International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP) (apps.who.int/trialsearch)
- US National Institutes of Health clinical trial register (www.clinicaltrials.gov)
- European Union Clinical Trials Register (www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu)

Searching other resources

We will review the references of any RCTs and NRSIs identified, review articles, and textbooks. We will contact study investigators to request missing data.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

We will use the search strategy described in the 'Search methods for identification of studies' section to obtain titles and abstracts of studies. Two review authors (DH and GF) will independently screen the titles and abstracts and discard studies that are not applicable; however, they will initially retain studies and reviews that might include relevant data or information on trials. Two review authors (DH and GF) will independently assess the retrieved abstracts and, when necessary, the full-text articles to determine which studies satisfy the inclusion criteria. The two review authors will compare multiple reports of the same study and use the most comprehensive report. They will link together multiple publications as companion reports, but exclude true duplicates. DH and GF will resolve discrepancies in judgement by discussion, and will report excluded studies and their reasons for exclusion in the 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table. We will report included studies in the 'Characteristics of included studies'. We will create a PRISMA flow chart reporting the selection process (Moher 2009).

Data extraction and management

Two review authors (DH and GF) will independently extract data using a predefined data extraction form in an Excel spreadsheet. They will resolve any disagreements by discussion. When necessary data are unavailable from the study report, we will try to obtain them through correspondence with the study authors.

Outcome data

We will extract the following data from each included study:

- number of participants who had a sustained disability worsening based on clinical follow-up visits;
- number of participants who had clinical relapses based on clinical follow-up visits;
- number who withdrew due to any adverse event; and
- measures and results of all important outcomes that were reported in the included studies.

We will extract the authors' definition and measure used in the study to assess each reported outcome. For continuous outcomes we will extract mean and standard deviation of the comparison groups, where possible. We will extract arm-level data when possible. When arm-level data are not available we will extract effect sizes. We will extract data at the authors' defined time points.

Other data

From each included study we will extract data on the following:

- study: first author or acronym; number of centres and location; study setting; year of publication; years that the study was conducted (recruitment and follow-up); publication (full-text publication, abstract publication, unpublished data);
- study design (RCT or NRSI); inclusion and exclusion criteria; number of randomised participants; withdrawals; early termination of trial;
- participants: age; sex; diagnostic criteria; type and duration of MS; important baseline data (EDSS score, percentage of participants with previous use of DMTs; MRI lesions);
- interventions: first choice or switching intervention, comparison, concomitant medications, duration of follow-up;
- conflict of interests of study authors; and
- funding of the study.

One review author (GF) will transfer data into the Review Manager Web software (Review Manager Web).

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

For the scope of this review, we will assess the effect of assignment to the intervention ('intention-to-treat effect') for the primary and secondary beneficial outcomes, and for treatment discontinuation due to adverse events. For the numbers of participants with SAEs and further adverse events, we will assess the effect of adhering to the intervention ('per protocol effect').

Randomised controlled trials

Two reviews authors (DH and GF) will independently assess the risk of bias for each study result using the Cochrane criteria that include: random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding of participants, blinding of outcome assessor, incomplete outcome data, selective outcome reporting and other bias (Higgins 2017). We will assess both primary and secondary outcomes. We will judge the risk of bias of each outcome and classify it as being at 'low', 'high', or 'unclear' risk of bias. We will judge incomplete outcome data to be at low risk of bias when numbers and causes of dropouts are balanced between arms (i.e. in the absence of a significant difference) and appear to be unrelated to the outcome. We will assess selective outcome reporting bias by comparing outcomes reported in the study protocol against published outcome results. We will resolve any disagreements between the review authors by discussion.

Controlled non-randomised studies of interventions

Three reviews authors (DH, JK, GF) will independently assess the risk of bias using the Risk Of Bias in Non-randomised Studies - of Interventions (ROBINS-I) tool (Sterne 2016). Based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria for this review, we will define our generic target trial as rituximab versus placebo or versus other DMTs for the treatment of people with MS. Therefore, we will use the ROBINS-I analogue of starting experimental intervention versus starting control intervention to evaluate risk of bias.

The ROBINS-I tool includes the following bias domains: confounding, selection of participants into the study, classification of interventions, deviations from intended interventions, missing data, measurement of outcomes and selection of reported result. We will assign an overall risk of bias to each outcome based on the worst assessment across all bias domains using the recommended levels (low, moderate, serious or critical risk of bias, or no information) (Sterne 2016). We will resolve any disagreements between the review authors by discussion.

Baseline confounding by indication is likely to be the most frequent confounder in NRSIs that meet the inclusion criteria. For example, participants with high pretreatment MS activity are likely to be treated with a highly efficacious drug (e.g. fingolimod, natalizumab) whereas participants with low pretreatment MS activity are likely to be treated with a less powerful drug (e.g. interferon beta or glatiramer acetate). A cohort study comparing two or more DMTs for MS should control for baseline age, sex, MS duration, relapse within the previous year, EDSS score, MRI activity and proportion of participants previously treated with DMTs. All these variables are prognostic for the outcomes included in the review, and are also likely to influence choice of treatment. In some NRSIs, particularly those based on registries (i.e. routinely collected data), participants might have been observed for different follow-up periods due to differences in drug licensing and availability across different geographical and historical cohorts (Trojano 2017). This different follow-up period could confound the results, particularly regarding long-term outcomes. For each NRSI, we will record whether the study controlled for these important confounding domains and used an analysis method to reduce confounding.

Adverse events

We will assess adverse events according to methods suggested in the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Perver 2020). We will extract data on the prespecified adverse events and the total number of withdrawals due to adverse events, along with any other adverse effects found in the included studies. We will evaluate each study's methods for monitoring and detecting adverse events by consideration of two questions: firstly, did researchers actively monitor for adverse events, or did they simply provide spontaneous reporting of adverse events that arose? Secondly, did study authors define serious adverse events according to an accepted international classification and report the number of serious adverse events? We will report answers to these questions in a table 'Assessment of adverse events monitoring, definition and reporting of serious adverse events'. We will use the resulting answers to assess the 'indirectness' GRADE domain.

Assessment of bias in conducting the systematic review

We will conduct the review according to this published protocol and report any deviations from it in the 'Differences between protocol and review' section of the systematic review.

Measures of treatment effect

Randomised controlled trials

If available, we will extract and report hazard ratios (HRs) with 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) for time-to-event outcomes (time to disability worsening, time to relapse and time to treatment discontinuation). For continuous outcomes (ARR, cognitive decline and quality of life), we will calculate the mean difference (MD), or the standardised mean difference (SMD) for the same continuous outcome measured with different metrics. We will back-calculate any results that we generate with an SMD based on scales that most closely reflect the outcome measure of interest to the review (as listed under Types of outcome measures). For dichotomous outcomes, we will report the risk ratio (RR) with a 95% CI. If the number of observed events is small (less than 5% of sample per group) and studies have balanced treatment groups, we will report the Peto odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI.

Controlled non-randomised studies of interventions

For time-to-event outcomes, if available, we will extract and report HRs with 95% CIs from statistical analyses adjusted for baseline difference (such as regression models). For dichotomous outcomes, if available, we will extract and report RRs with 95% CIs from statistical analyses adjusted for baseline differences (such as regression models). For continuous variables, if available, we will extract and report the difference between groups of the change from baseline, or the difference in score post intervention, derived from a statistical analysis adjusted for baseline differences (such as regression models, mixed models or hierarchical models).

Unit of analysis issues

Cluster-randomised trials and cross-over trials are not relevant to DMTs for multiple sclerosis.

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Studies with multiple treatment groups

For multi-arm trials, the intervention groups of relevance will be all those that could be included in a pairwise comparison of intervention groups which, if investigated alone, would have met the criteria for including studies in the review. For example, if we identify a study comparing 'rituximab versus glatiramer acetate versus rituximab plus glatiramer acetate', we would only use one comparison ('rituximab versus glatiramer acetate'), since it addresses the review's objective. Thus, data from the 'rituximab plus glatiramer' treatment group is not relevant to the review. However, if the study compares 'rituximab versus glatiramer versus fingolimod', all three pairwise comparisons of interventions are relevant to the review. In this case, we will treat multi-arm studies as multiple independent two-arm studies. For multi-arm trials involving the same agent at different doses compared to a control treatment, we will convert the treatment arms into a single arm by merging the different doses, summing the number of participants who had the event and calculating the merged sample size. For continuous outcomes, we will combine means and standard deviations using methods described in the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Higgins 2019).

Dealing with missing data

We will use data that reflect the intention-to-treat analysis (the effect of assignment) for each included outcome with the exception of adverse events, for which we will assess the risk of bias in relation to the effect of adherence (per protocol effect). We will attempt to retrieve missing data from study authors. In order to assess the effect of missing outcome data where not reported or provided, we will assume that treated and control group participants who are missing both had an unfavourable outcome. If standard deviations are missing for continuous outcomes, we will calculate them according to the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2019).

Assessment of heterogeneity

We will quantify statistical heterogeneity using the l^2 statistic (Higgins 2003). We will interpret it using the following guide: l^2 statistic > 30% signifies moderate heterogeneity, l^2 statistic > 75% signifies considerable heterogeneity; Deeks 2019). When the l^2 statistic value is over 75%, we will explore possible reasons for this through subgroup and sensitivity analyses.

Assessment of reporting biases

Reporting bias

As specified in the Types of studies section, we will include results that are published in non-commercial trial registries. This is to ensure that we capture completed studies that have not been published elsewhere, in order to minimise or determine publication bias. We will include studies irrespective of their publication status, as recommended in *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (McKenzie 2019). We will evaluate potential publication bias by means of funnel plots for meta-analyses involving at least 10 studies (Page 2019).

Selective non-reporting bias

We expect that most of the included NRSIs will not have an available protocol, and that even protocols for RCTs may lack an analysis plan. Therefore, we decided that if a study appears to be carried out appropriately and the authors are known and trustworthy, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

we will see if there is correspondence between the outcome measurements and analyses described in the Methods section of the published paper and those reported in the Results section.

Data synthesis

We will conduct an initial qualitative comparison of all the included studies to examine whether pooling of results (meta-analysis) will be reasonable. This will take into account differences in study populations, inclusion and exclusion criteria, interventions and outcome assessment. We will pool the results from included studies that report any of the outcomes of interest in meta-analyses. If we cannot perform meta-analyses, we will present the results from all included studies in tables and comment on the results as a narrative.

We will conduct separate analyses for RCTs and NRSIs. We will conduct separate analyses for relapsing and progressive forms of MS, and for 'first treatment' (treatment naive) and 'when switching from other DMTs' types of intervention. We will use the Review Manager Web software for analyses (Review Manager Web).

We will use a random-effects model for all analyses because we assume that the studies are not all estimating the same intervention effect, and are estimating intervention effects that follow a distribution across studies (DerSimonian 1986). For continuous outcomes, we will calculate MD or SMD, if the outcome is measured on different assessment scales (such as QOL), with 95% CIs. For dichotomous outcomes, we will use the Mantel-Haenszel method to calculate between-study variance. We will combine HRs and continuous outcomes using the inverse-variance method. If a meta-analysis is feasible for NRSIs, we plan to analyse the different types of studies separately. We plan to only analyse outcomes with adjusted effect estimates if these were adjusted for the same factors using the inverse-variance method, as recommended in Chapter 24 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Reeves 2019).

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

We will perform subgroup analyses of the following characteristics:

- participants: active or inactive relapsing MS
- participants: active or inactive primary or secondary progressive MS
- treatment comparison: placebo or each individual DMT

We will use the tests for interaction to test for differences between subgroup results.

Sensitivity analysis

We will assess the impact of studies that have results for critical and important outcomes that we judge to be at high or critical risk of bias, by removing them from the analysis. We will use the sensitivity analyses to inform the downgrading decisions relating to risk of bias. We will consider different assumptions relating to missing outcome as the basis for sensitivity analyses.

Summary of findings and assessment of the certainty of the evidence

We will present the main results of the review in 'Summary of findings' tables, according to recommendations described in Chapter 14 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of*

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Interventions (Schünemann 2020). For the included NRSIs we will follow GRADE guidance 18, starting from high-certainty evidence with the opportunity to downgrade by three points for critical risk of bias (Schünemann 2019). For time-to-event outcomes we will calculate absolute effects at specific time points, as recommended in GRADE guidance 27 (Skoetz 2020). We will express the findings and certainty of the evidence as suggested in the informative statement guidance (Santesso 2020).

We plan to present four 'Summary of findings' tables addressing the following comparisons in relapsing or progressive MS.

- Rituximab as a first choice compared with other DMTs for relapsing MS
- Rituximab when switching from another DMT compared with other DMTs for relapsing MS
- Rituximab as a first choice compared with other DMTs for progressive MS
- Rituximab when switching from another DMT compared with other DMTs for progressive MS

We plan to assess the certainty of the evidence for the following main outcomes.

- · Number of participants with sustained disability worsening
- Number of participants with clinical relapses
- Number of participant reporting impairment in quality of life
- Number of participants with SAEs
- · Number of participants with common infections
- Number of participants with cancer
- Number of deaths

For any outcome which has both RCT and NRSI data, we will present the result with the higher grade of certainty in the 'Summary of findings' table. In the 'Summary of findings' tables, we will prioritise long-term outcomes if they are available, otherwise we will include shortterm outcomes. We will assess the certainty of evidence for each outcome considering the risk of bias, indirectness, inconsistency, imprecision of effect estimates, and risk of publication bias. Using GRADEpro GDT software (GRADEpro GDT), we will assign one of four levels of certainty of evidence: high, moderate, low, or very low.

We will include the following additional comparisons in the additional tables' section.

- Rituximab as a first choice compared with placebo for relapsing MS
- Rituximab when switching from another DMT compared with placebo for relapsing MS
- Rituximab as a first choice compared with placebo for progressive MS
- Rituximab when switching from another DMT compared with placebo for progressive MS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank all external peer reviewers who read and commented on this protocol. We thank Guy Peryer (PhD, CPsychol, CSci NIHR ARC East of England Palliative and Life Care Theme; School of Health Sciences, University of East Anglia, Norwich Research Park, Norwich, NR4 7TJ), Thomas Mathew (MD, DM Professor and Head, Department of Neurology, St John's Medical College Hospital, Bangalore, India) and Nuala Livingstone (Associate Editor 'Mental Health and Neuroscience' Network Review Production and Quality Unit, Editorial & Methods Department Cochrane Central Executive) who greatly helped to improve this protocol.



REFERENCES

Additional references

Alping 2020

Alping P, Askling J, Burman J, Fink K, Fogdell-Hahn A, Gunnarsson M, et al. Cancer risk for fingolimod, natalizumab, and rituximab in multiple sclerosis patients. *Annals of neurology* 2020;**87**(5):688-99.

Banerjee 2018

Banerjee S, Adcock L. Rituximab for the treatment of myasthenia gravis: a review of clinical effectiveness, costeffectiveness, and guidelines. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK537803/ 2018.

Bar-Or 2010

Bar-Or A, Fawaz L, Fan B, Darlington PJ, Rieger A, Ghorayeb C, et al. Abnormal B-cell cytokine responses a trigger of T-cellmediated disease in MS? *Annals of Neurology* 2010;**67**(4):452-61.

Batista 2009

Batista FD, Harwood NE. The who, how and where of antigen presentation to B cells. *Nature Reviews. Immunology* 2009;**9**(1):15-27.

Benedict 2020

Benedict RH, Amato MP, DeLuca J, Geurts JJ. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: clinical management, MRI, and therapeutic avenues. *Lancet Neurology* 2020;**19**(10):860-71.

Berger 2018

Berger JR, Malik V, Lacey S, Brunetta P, Lehane PB. Progressive multifocal leucoencephalopathy in rituximab-treated rheumatic diseases: a rare event. *Journal of Neurovirology* 2018;**24**(3):323-31.

Berntsson 2018

Berntsson SG, Kristoffersson A, Boström I, Feresiadou A, Burman J, Landtblom AM. Rapidly increasing off-label use of rituximab in multiple sclerosis in Sweden - outlier or predecessor? *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica* 2018;**138**:327–31.

Bourdette 2016

Bourdette D. Rituximab for treating multiple sclerosis: off-label but on target. *Neurology* 2016;**87**:2070-1.

Caldito 2020

Caldito NG, Shirani A, Salter A, Stuve O. Adverse event profile differences between rituximab and ocrelizumab: findings from the FDA Adverse Event Reporting Database. Multiple Sclerosis 2020 Aug 21 [Epub ahead of print]. [DOI: 10.1177/1352458520949986]

Chakravarty 2011

Chakravarty EF, Murray ER, Kelman A, Farmer P. Pregnancy outcomes after maternal exposure to rituximab. *Blood* 2011;**117**(5):1499-506.

Comi 2021

Comi G, Bar-Or A, Lassmann H, Uccelli A, Hartung HP, Montalban X, et al. Expert Panel of the 27th Annual Meeting of the European Charcot Foundation. Role of B Cells in Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. *Annals of Neurology* 2021;**89**(1):13-23.

Damato 2016

Damato V, Evoli A, Iorio R. Efficacy and safety of rituximab therapy in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Neurology* 2016;**73**(11):1342-8.

Das 2018

Das G, Damotte V, Gelfand JM, Bevan C, Cree BA, Do L, et al. Rituximab before and during pregnancy: a systematic review, and a case series in MS and NMOSD. *Neurology Neuroimmunology & Neuroinflammation* 2018;**5**(3):e453.

Deeks 2019

Deeks JJ, Higgins JP, Altman DG, editor(s). Chapter 10: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.0 (updated July 2019). Cochrane, 2019. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

DerSimonian 1986

DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 1986;**7**(3):177–88.

DGN 2020

Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Neurologie. Diagnosis and therapy of multiple sclerosis, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder and MOG-IgG-associated diseases [Diagnose und Therapie der Multiplen Sklerose, Neuromyelitis Optica Spektrum und MOG-IgG-assoziierte Erkrankungen]. https:// dgn.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/200902_MS-LL_Hauptteil_Konsultationsfassung_KKNMS_202008_final.pdf (accessed 18 December 2020).

Duddy 2007

Duddy M, Niino M, Adatia F, Hebert S, Freedman M, Atkins H, et al. Distinct effector cytokine profiles of memory and naive human B cell subsets and implication in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Immunology* 2007;**178**(10):6092-9.

EMA 2015

European Medicines Agency (EMA). Guideline on clinical investigation of medicinal products for the treatment of multiple sclerosis. EMA/CHMP/771815/2011, Rev. 2. www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientific-guideline/ guideline-clinical-investigation-medicinal-products-treatmentmultiple-sclerosis_en-0.pdf 2015.

European Commission 2017

European Commission. Study on off-label use of medicinal products in the European Union. https://ec.europa.eu/health/sites/health/files/files/

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



documents/2017_02_28_final_study_report_on_offlabel_use_.pdf 2017.

Evens 2011

Evens AM, Jovanovic BD, Su YC, Raisch DW, Ganger D, Belknap SM, et al. Rituximab-associated hepatitis B virus (HBV) reactivation in lymphoproliferative diseases: meta-analysis and examination of FDA safety reports. *Annals of Oncology* 2011;**22**(5):1170-80.

Fasano 2017

Fasano S, Gordon P, Hajji R, Loyo E, Isenberg DA. Rituximab in the treatment of inflammatory myopathies: a review. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2017;**56**(1):26-36.

FDA 2019a

US Food and Drug Administration. New Drug Application (NDA): 209884. www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cder/daf/index.cfm? event=BasicSearch.process (accessed 15 September 2020).

FDA 2019b

FDA. New Drug Application (NDA): 022561. www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cder/daf/index.cfm? event=overview.process&ApplNo=022561 (accessed 15 September 2020).

FDA 2020a

US Food and Drug Administration. Drugs@FDA: FDA-Approved Drugs. www.https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/ label/2020/103705s5460lbl.pdf (Accessed 28 March 2020).

FDA 2020b

US Food and Drug Administration. New Drug Application (NDA): 209899. www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cder/daf/ index.cfm?event=overview.process&ApplNo=209899 (accessed 13 September 2020).

GRADEpro GDT [Computer program]

Hamilton (ON). McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime) GRADEpro GDT. Hamilton (ON). McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime), Version accessed 12 October 2020. Available at gradepro.org.

Granqvist 2018

Granqvist M, Boremalm M, Poorghobad A, Svenningsson A, Salzer J, Frisell T, et al. Comparative effectiveness of rituximab and other initial treatment choices for multiple sclerosis. *JAMA Neurology* 2018;**75**(3):320–7.

Greenfield 2018

Greenflield AL, Hauser SL. B cell therapy for multiple sclerosis: entering an era. *Annals of Neurology* 2018;**83**(1):13-26.

Hallberg 2019

Hallberg S, Boremalm M, Evertsson B, Lillvall E, Johansson F, Lycke J et al. Risk of hypogammaglobulinemia in long-term treatment with rituximab in multiple sclerosis. In: ECTRIMS online library. 35th Congress of the European Committee for Treatment and Research in Multiple Sclerosis (ECTRIMS); 2019 Sept 11-13; Stockholm (Sweden). 2019. [Abstract 64]

Hauser 2015

Hauser SL. The Charcot Lecture: beating MS: a story of B cells, with twists and turns. *Multiple Sclerosis* 2015;**21**:8-21.

Higgins 2003

Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ* 2003;**327**:557-60.

Higgins 2017

Higgins JP, Altman DG, Sterne JA, editor(s). Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins JP, Churchill R, Chandler J, Cumpston MS, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 5.2.0 (updated June 2017), Cochrane, 2017. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Higgins 2019

Higgins JP, Li T, Deeks JJ, editor(s). Chapter 6: Choosing effect measures and computing estimates of effect. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.0 (updated July 2019). Cochrane, 2019. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Jelcic 2018

Jelcic I, Al Nimer F, Wang J, Lentsch V, Planas R, Jelcic I, et al. Memory B cells activate brain-homing, autoreactive CD4+ T cells in multiple sclerosis. *Cell* 2018;**175**(1):85-100.e23.

Kümpfel 2019

Kümpfel T, Thiel S, Meinl A, Bayas A, Ciplea A, Hoffmann F, et al. Anti CD20 therapies and pregnancy in neuroimmunological disorders – a case series from Germany. *Neurology* 2019;**92**(15 Suppl):P4.2-094.

Kurtzke 1983

Kurtzke JF. Rating neurological impairment in multiple sclerosis: An Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS). *Neurology* 1983;**33**:1444-52.

Lancet Neurology 2019

Lancet Neurology. Essential medicines for patients with multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurology* 2019;**18**(12):1067.

Langdon 2012

Langdon DW, Amato MP, Boringa J, Brochet B, Foley F, Fredrikson S, et al. Recommendations for a Brief International Cognitive Assessment for Multiple Sclerosis (BICAMS). *Multiple Sclerosis* 2012;**18**:891-8.

Lefebvre 2019

Lefebvre C, Glanville J, Briscoe S, Littlewood A, Marshall C, Metzendorf MI, et al. Chapter 4: Searching for and selecting studies. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.0 (updated July 2019). Cochrane, 2019. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Lublin 1996

Lublin FD, Reingold SC, National Multiple Sclerosis Society (USA) Advisory Committee on Clinical Trials of New Agents in Multiple Sclerosis. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: results of an international survey. *Neurology* 1996;**46**:907-11.

Lublin 2014

Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen JA, Cutter GR, Sørensen PS, Thompson AJ. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions. *Neurology* 2014;**83**(3):278-86.

Luna 2020

Luna G, Alping P, Burman J, Fink K, Fogdell-Hahn A, Gunnarsson M, et al. Infection risks among patients with multiple sclerosis treated with fingolimod, natalizumab, rituximab, and injectable therapies. *JAMA Neurology* 2020;**77**(2):184-91.

Maloney 1997

Maloney DG, Grillo-Lopez AJ, Bodkin DJ, White CA, Liles TM, Royston I, et al. IDECC2B8: results of a phase I multiple-dose trial in patients with relapsed non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1997;**15**(10):3266–74.

Marques 2018

Marques VD, Passos GR, Mendes MF, Callegaro D, Lana-Peixoto MA, Comini-Frota ER, et al. Brazilian consensus for the treatment of multiple sclerosis: Brazilian Academy of Neurology and Brazilian Committee on Treatment and Research in Multiple Sclerosis. *Arquivos de Neuro-psiquiatria* 2018;**76**(8):539-54.

Mathew 2020

Mathew T, John SK, Kamath V, Murgod U, Thomas K, Baptist AA, et al. Efficacy and safety of rituximab in multiple sclerosis: experience from a developing country. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders* 2020;**43**:102210.

Mathias 2017

Mathias A, Perriard G, Canales M, Soneson C, Delorenzi M, Schluep M, et al. Increased ex vivo antigen presentation profile of B cells in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis* 2017;**23**(6):802-9.

McDonald 2001

McDonald WI, Compston A, Edan G, Goodkin D, Hartung HP, Lublin FD, et al. Recommended diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: guidelines from the International Panel on the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology* 2001;**50**(1):121-7.

McKenzie 2019

McKenzie JE, Brennan SE, Ryan RE, Thomson HJ, Johnston RV, Thomas J. Chapter 3: Defining the criteria for including studies and how they will be grouped for the synthesis. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.0 (updated July 2019). Cochrane, 2019. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Meyer-Moock 2014

Meyer-Moock S, Feng YS, Maeurer M, Dippel FW, Kohlmann T. Systematic literature review and validity evaluation of the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) and the Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite (MSFC) in patients with multiple sclerosis. *BMC Neurology* 2014;**14**(58):doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-14-58.

Moher 2009

Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, the PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Medicine* 2009;**6**(7):e1000097.

Montalban 2018

Montalban X, Gold R, Thompson AJ, Otero-Romero S, Amato MP, Chandraratna D, et al. ECTRIMS/EAN Guideline on the pharmacological treatment of people with multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal* 2018;**24**(2):96-120.

MSIF 2020

MS International Federation. Atlas of MS. www.atlasofms.org (accessed 13 February 2021).

Nepal 2020

Nepal G, Shing YK, Yadav JK, Rehrig JH, Ojha R, Huang DY, et al. Efficacy and safety of rituximab in autoimmune encephalitis: a meta-analysis. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica* 2020;**142**(5):449-59.

Page 2019

Page MJ, Higgins JPT, Sterne JAC. Chapter 13: Assessing risk of bias due to missing results in a synthesis. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.0 (updated July 2019) Cochrane, 2019. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Peryer 2020

Peryer G, Golder S, Junqueira D, Vohra S, Loke YK. Chapter 19: Adverse effects. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.1 (updatedSeptember 2020). Cochrane, 2020. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Polman 2005

Polman CH, Reingold SC, Edan G, Filippi M, Hartung HP, Kappos L, et al. Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: 2005 revisions to the "McDonald Criteria". *Annals of Neurology* 2005;**58**(6):840-6.

Polman 2011

Polman CH, Reingold SC, Banwell B, Clanet M, Cohen JA, Filippi M, et al. Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: 2010 revisions to the McDonald criteria. *Annals of Neurology* 2011;**69**(2):292-302.

Poser 1983

Poser CM, Paty DW, Scheinberg L, McDonald WI, Davis FA, Ebers GC, et al. New diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis:

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



guidelines for research protocols. *Annals of Neurology* 1983;**13**(3):227-31.

Pourcher 2020

Pourcher V. What are the infectious risks with disease-modifying drugs for multiple sclerosis and how to reduce them? A review of literature. *Revue neurologique (Paris)* 2020;**176**(4):235-43.

Rae-Grant 2018

Rae-Grant A, Day GS, Marrie RA, Rabinstein A, Cree BA, Gronseth GS, et al. Practice guideline recommendations summary: disease-modifying therapies for adults with multiple sclerosis. Report of the Guideline Development, Dissemination, and Implementation Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology* 2018;**90**(17):777-88.

Reeves 2019

Reeves BC, Deeks JJ, Higgins JP, Shea B, Tugwell P, Wells GA. Chapter 24: Including non-randomized studies on intervention effects. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.0 (updated July 2019). Cochrane, 2019. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Review Manager Web [Computer program]

The Cochrane Collaboration Review Manager Web (RevMan Web). Version 2.2.1. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2021. Available from revman.cochrane.org.

Roll 2006

Roll P, Palanichamy A, Kneitz C, Dorner T, Tony HP. Regeneration of B cell subsets after transient B cell depletion using anti-CD20 antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism* 2006;**54**(8):2377–86.

Sabatino 2019

Sabatino JJ, Pröbstel A-K, Zamvil SS. B cells in autoimmune and neurodegenerative central nervous system diseases. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 2019;**20**(12):728–45.

Salzer 2016

Salzer J, Svenningsson R, Alping P, Novakova L, Björck A, Fink K, et al. Rituximab in multiple sclerosis: a retrospective observational study on safety and efficacy. *Neurology* 2016;**87**(20):2074-81.

Santesso 2020

Santesso N, Glenton C, Dahm P, Garner P, Akl A, Alper B, et al. GRADE guidelines 26: informative statements to communicate the findings of systematic reviews of interventions. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2020;**119**:126-35.

Sarsour 2020

Sarsour K, Beckley-Kartey S, Melega S, Odueyungbo A, Kirchner P, Khalife N, et al. Rituximab utilization for approved and off-label nononcology indications and patients' experiences with the Patient Alert Card. *Pharmacology Research* & *Perspectives* 2020;**8**(1):e00555.

Schünemann 2019

Schünemann HJ, Cuello C, Akl EA, Mustafa RA, Meerpohl JJ, Thayer K, et al. GRADE guidelines: 18. How ROBINS-I and other tools to assess risk of bias in nonrandomized studies should be used to rate the certainty of a body of evidence. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2019;**111**:105-14.

Schünemann 2020

Schünemann HJ, Higgins JP, Vist GE, Glasziou P, Akl EA, Skoetz N, et al. Chapter 14: Completing 'Summary of findings' tables and grading the certainty of the evidence. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.1 (updated September 2020). Cochrane, 2020. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Serafini 2004

Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E, Aloisi F. Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathology* 2004;**14**(2):164-74.

Skoetz 2020

Skoetz N, Goldkuhle M, Van Dalen EC, Akl EA, Trivella M, Mustafa RA, et al. GRADE guidelines 27: how to calculate absolute effects for time-to-event outcomes in summary of findings tables and evidence profiles. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2020;**118**:124-31.

Smith 2020

Smith JB, Hellwig K, Fink K, Lyell DJ, Piehl F, Langer-Gould A. Rituximab, MS, and pregnancy. *Neurology Neuroimmunology & Neuroinflammation* 2020;**7**(4):e734.

Spelman 2018

Spelman T, Frisell T, Piehl F, Hillert J. Comparative effectiveness of rituximab relative to IFN- β or glatiramer acetate in relapsing-remitting MS from the Swedish MS registry. *Multiple Sclerosis* 2018;**24**(8):1087–95.

St Clair 2010

St Clair EW. Good and bad memories following rituximab therapy. *Arthritis and Rheumatism* 2010;**62**(1):1-5.

Sterne 2016

Sterne JA, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, Savović J, Berkman ND, Viswanathan M, et al. ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. *BMJ* 2016;**355**:i4919.

Thompson 2018

Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, Carroll WM, Coetzee T, Comi G, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. *Lancet Neurology* 2018;**17**(2):162-73.

Trojano 2017

Trojano M, Tintore M, Montalban X, Hillert J, Kalincik T, Iaffaldano P, et al. Treatment decisions in multiple sclerosis insights from real-world observational studies. *Nature Reviews. Neurology* 2017;**13**:105-18.

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)



Tsao 2019

Tsao L, Otani IM, Bove R. Hypogammaglobulinemia in multiple sclerosis patients receiving disease-modifying immunomodulatory agents. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2019;**143**(2 Suppl):AB16.

US Department of Health and Human Services 2017

US Department of Health and Human Services. Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) v5.0. ctep.cancer.gov/ protocoldevelopment/electronic_applications/docs/ CTCAE_v5_Quick_Reference_5x7.pdf 2017.

van Vollenhoven 2015

van Vollenhoven RF, Fleischmann RM, Furst DE, Lacey S, Lehane PB. Long-term safety of rituximab: final report of the Rheumatoid Arthritis Global Clinical Trial Program over 11 years. *Journal of Rheumatology* 2015;**42**(10):1761-6.

Vickrey 1995

Vickrey BG, Hays RD, Harooni R, Myers LW, Ellison GW. A healthrelated quality of life measure for multiple sclerosis. *Quality of Life Research* 1995;**4**(3):187-206.

Wadstrom 2017

Wadstrom H, Frisell T, Askling J. Malignant neoplasms in patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with tumor necrosis factor inhibitors, tocilizumab, abatacept, or rituximab in clinical practice: a nationwide cohort study from Sweden. *JAMA Internal Medicine* 2017;**177**(11):1605-12.

Yamout 2020

Yamout B, Sahraian M, Bohlega S, Al-Jumah M, Goueider R, Dahdaleh M, et al. Consensus recommendations for the diagnosis and treatment of multiple sclerosis: 2019 revisions to the MENACTRIMS guidelines. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders* 2020;**37**:101459.

Yukitake 2018

Yukitake M. Drug-induced progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in multiple sclerosis: a comprehensive review. *Clinical and Experimental Neuroimmunology* 2018;**9** (Suppl. 1):37-47.

Zhong 2020

Zhong M, van der Walt A, Campagna MP, Stankovich J, Butzkueven H, Jokubaitis V. The pharmacogenetics of rituximab: potential implications for anti-CD20 therapies in multiple sclerosis. Neurotherapeutics 2020;**Oct 14 [Epub ahead of print]**. [DOI: 10.1007/s13311-020-00950-2]

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 1. Treatment guidelines for multiple sclerosis

	European EC- TRIMS/EAN Guide- line (Montalban 2018)	American academy of neurolo- gy (AAN) practice guideline (Rae- Grant 2018)	Brazilian Consensus (Marques 2018)	The Middle East and North Africa Commit- tee (MENACTRIMS) Consensus (Yamout 2020)
Question 1	In people with CIS, what is the bene- fit of starting treat- ment with a DMT compared to no treatment?	In people with CIS, are DMTs superi- or to placebo in decreasing the risk of conversion to MS?	In people with CIS, are DMTs efficacious in preventing conversion to MS?	Should people with CIS be treated with DMTs?
Recommenda- tion	Offer interferon or glatiramer acetate to people with CIS and an abnormal MRI with lesions suggestive of MS who do not fulfil cri- teria for MS.	 a) Clinicians may recommend at least annual MRI for the first 5 years and follow-up rather than initiating DMT in people with CIS who have not had relapses in the preceding 2 years, and do not have active new MRI lesions on recent imaging. b) After discussing the risks and benefits, clinicians should prescribe DMT to people with CIS and 2 or more brain lesions characteristic of MS who decide they want this thera- py. 	It seems reasonable to start DMTs only in peo- ple with high-risk CIS ^a as well as to choose safer drugs. Efficacy in CIS has been demon- strated with the beta interferons, cladrib- ine, glatiramer acetate, and terifluno- mide. Since no direct comparison between these is available, any of these drugs are deemed appropriate	If the overall clinical and radiological pic- ture is suggestive of MS, people with CIS and high MRI lesion load (> 9 T2 lesions), or with se- vere relapses with in- complete recovery, or both, should be treated.



Table 1. Treatment guidelines for multiple sclerosis (Continued)

for the treatment of

			high-risk CIS ^a .	
Quality of evi- dence	Strong	a) Level C: "may" b) Level B: "should"	Not reported	Not reported
Question 2	In people with RRMS, what is the benefit of treating with a DMT com- pared to no treat- ment or another DMT?	In people with RRMS, are DMTs su- perior to placebo or other DMTs in preventing relapse at 2 years, reduc- ing MRI new disease activity, and preventing disease progression?	In people with relaps- ing MS, are DMTs effi- cacious in reducing re- lapses, MRI disease ac- tivity and disability?	Should people with RRMS be treated with DMTs?
Recommenda- tion	 a) Offer early treatment with DMTs to people with active RRMS^b b) For active RRMS, choosing between the wide range of available DMTs, from the modestly effective to the highly efficacious, depends on individual characteristics and comorbidities, disease severity or activity, drug safety profile, and accessibility of the drug, in discussion with the person with active RRMS. 	Clinicians should a) offer DMTs to people with RRMS with recent clinical relapses or MRI activity b) prescribe alemtuzumab, fin- golimod, or natalizumab for people with highly active MS ^b Clinicians may c) recommend azathioprine or cladribine for people with RRMS who do not have access to approved DMTs.	 a) It would seem reasonable to start treatment with interferons, glatiramer acetate, pegylated interferon beta, dimethyl fumarate, or teriflunomide, (good safety profile and more easily available, including in the Brazilian public health system). b) Consider alemtuzumab, cladribine, fingolimod, natalizumab, and ocrelizumab for people with highly active relapsing MS^c. 	 a) In treatment-naive patients, interferons, glatiramer acetate, teri- flunomide and dimethyl fumarate can be initiat- ed. b) In people with high- ly active disease^d fin- golimod, siponimod, natalizumab, ocre- lizumab, or cladribine may be initiated. c) In people with rapid- ly evolving aggressive disease^e natalizum- ab, ocrelizumab or alemtuzumab are rec- ommended after care- ful risk stratification. d) Rituximab can be used off label for high- ly active disease and rapidly evolving aggres- sive disease in special populations such as refugees, or in countries where other appropri- ate options are not avail- able.
Quality of evi- dence	a) Strong	a, b) Level B: "should"	Not reported	Not reported
	b) Consensus state- ment	c) Level C: "may"		
Question 3	In people with ac- tive SPMS, what is the benefit of treating with a DMT compared to no	In people with SPMS, are DMTs efficacious?	In people with non-ac- tive SPMS, are DMTs efficacious?	Should people with SPMS be treated with DMTs?

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)

Table 1. Treatment guidelines for multiple sclerosis (Continued)

	treatment or anoth- er DMT?			
Recommenda- tion	Consider treatment with interferons, mitoxantrone, ocre- lizumab or cladrib- ine for people with active SPMS.	 a) Clinicians should prescribe alemtuzumab, fingolimod, or natalizumab for people with highly active MS^b. b) Clinicians may advise discontinuation of DMT in people with SPMS who do not have ongoing relapses or MRI activity and have not been ambulatory (EDSS 7 or greater) for at least 2 years. 	 a) Not prescribing a DMT is an acceptable choice in people with SPMS who no longer present relapses. b) In cases of rapid- ly-progressive disease, cyclophosphamide, mitoxantrone, and au- tologous hematopoi- etic stem cell trans- plantation may be used as off-label treat- ments. 	 a) Consider treatment with ocrelizumab or siponimod in people with active SPMS, age ≤ 60 years and EDSS ≤ 6.5 (i.e. not wheelchair bound). b) In people with rapid- ly progressive SPMS not responding to ocre lizumab or siponimod or who have no access to these medications, cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, or my- cophenolate may be warranted.
Quality of evi- dence	Weak	a) Level B: "should" b) Level C: "may"	Not reported	Not reported
Question 4	In people with PP- MS, what is the ben- efit of treating with a DMT compared to no treatment?	In people with PPMS, are DMTs su- perior to placebo or other DMTs as measured by relapse rate or disease progression?	In people with PPMS, are DMTs efficacious in delaying the progres- sion of disability?	Should people with PPMS be treated with DMTs?
Recommenda- tion	Consider treatment with ocrelizumab for people with PP- MS.	Clinicians should offer ocrelizumab to people with PPMS.	Ocrelizumab should be the treatment of choice for people with PPMS, after considera- tion	Consider treatment with ocrelizumab for people with PPMS, age ≤ 55 years, EDSS ≤ 6.5 (i.e. not wheelchair bound) and disease du- ration ≤ 10 to 15 years.
			of the expected bene- fits and potential risks on a case-by-case ba- sis.	
Quality of evi- dence	Weak	Level B: "should"	Not reported	Not reported
Question 5	a) In people with RRMS treated with interferon or glati- ramer acetate and evidence of disease activity at 6 or 12 months, what is the benefit of switching to more efficacious drugs?	In people with RRMS who experi- ence disease activity while on a DMT, is changing to a different DMT superior to continuing the present DMT in terms of relapse and MRI dis- ease activity?	When to consider DMT switching in people with RRMS?	When to consider DMT switching in people with RRMS?
	b) In people with relapsing MS who stop taking a high- ly efficacious drug,			

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)



Table 1. Treatment guidelines for multiple sclerosis (Continued)

	what is the bene- fit of further treat- ment?			
Recommenda- tion	 a) Offer a more efficacious drug to people treated with interferon or glati- ramer acetate who show evidence of disease activity. b) Consider start- ing another high- ly efficacious drug, taking into account disease activity, half-life and biolog- ical activity of the previous drug, and the potential for re- bound (particularly with natalizumab). 	 a) Clinicians should discuss switching from one DMT to another in people with MS treated long enough for the treatment to take full effect when they experience ≥ 1 relapse, ≥ 2 new MRI lesions, or increased disability, over a 1-year period of using a DMT. b) Clinicians should evaluate the degree of disease activity, adherence, AE profiles, and mechanism of action of DMTs when switching DMTs in people with MS with break-through disease activity during DMT use. 	 a) If the management of highly active MS^c with potent DMTs has achieved a satisfacto- ry response and stabil- ity for several years, it would be acceptable (though not mandatory) to consider switching to a lower potency DMT. b) If a person with relapsing MS fails to achieve satisfactory responses, presents intolerance or safety concerns with inter- ferons, dimethyl fu- marate, glatiramer ac- etate, pegylated inter- feron, teriflunomide, a switch to alemtuzum- ab, cladribine, fin- golimod, natalizumab, ocrelizumab should be considered. 	 a) In people with moderately active disease and suboptimal response^f to interferons, dimethyl fumarate, glatiramer acetate, teriflunomide, treatment escalation to fingolimod, siponimod, natalizumab, ocrelizumab or cladribine should be considered. b) Rituximab can be used off label as an escalation therapy for all levels of MS activity, in special populations such as refugees, or in countries where other appropriate options are not available. c) In people with evidence of suboptimal response to any of the second line medications, off-label cyclophosphamide, autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, or mitoxantrone should be considered.
Quality of evi- dence	a) Strong	a, b) Level B: "should"	Not reported	Not reported
dence	b) Consensus state- ment			
Question 6	Not reported	In people with RRMS who experi- ence adverse events while on a DMT, is switching necessary?	Not reported	Not reported
Recommenda- tion		Clinicians should:		
		a) discuss a change to non-in- jectable or less frequently injectable DMTs in people with MS who report intolerable discomfort with the in- jections or in those who report in- jection fatigue on injectable DMTs;		

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)



Table 1. Treatment guidelines for multiple sclerosis (Continued)

events negatively influence adherence;

c) discuss switching DMT or reducing dosage or frequency when there are serious infections or persistent laboratory abnormalities;

d) discuss switching to a DMT with a lower risk of progressive multifocal leucoencephalopathy with people with MS taking natalizumab who are or become antibody-positive to John Cunningham (JCV) virus, while on therapy;

e) discuss switching to an alternate DMT for people with MS who develop a malignancy while using azathioprine, methotrexate, mycophenolate, cyclophosphamide, fingolimod, teriflunomide, alemtuzumab, or dimethyl fumarate;

f) switch DMTs in people with MS who have persistent natalizumab antibodies.

Quality of evidence a, b, c, d, e, f) Level B: "should"

^{*a*}High risk CIS defined by one or more typical MRI T2 lesion(s), provided both the clinical presentation and MRI lesion(s) are suggestive of central nervous system demyelination and not attributable to other diseases.

^bActive RRMS or highly active MS defined by clinical relapses or MRI activity (active lesions-contrast-enhancing lesions; new or unequivocally enlarging T2 lesions assessed at least annually) or both.

^cHighly active MS defined as: (i) at least two disabling relapses with incomplete resolution and at least one contrast-enhancing lesion or significant increase in T2 lesion load in the previous year in treatment-naive patients; or (ii) breakthrough disease activity in the previous year, under an adequate course of at least one DMT (in the absence of intolerance or non-adherence), presenting with at least one relapse in the previous year while on therapy and at least nine MRI T2 lesions or at least one contrast-enhancing lesion.

^dHighly active disease defined as: (i) at least two relapses in the previous year; (ii) relapse severity; (iii) incomplete recovery; (iv) at least 10 MRI T2 lesions; (v) multiple contrast enhancing lesions.

^eRapidly evolving aggressive disease defined as the presence of at least two disabling relapses with incomplete recovery in the previous year and at least 10 MRI T2 lesions.

^fSuboptimal response to chronic DMTs should be considered after one year of treatment in people with at least one relapse or disability progression or both, or at least two active MRI lesions (Gd+ or new T2W or both) after one year of adequate treatment and using as baseline an MRI performed six months after treatment initiation.

Abbreviations

AE: adverse events; CIS: clinically isolated syndrome; DMT: disease-modifying treatments; ECTRIMS/EAN: European Committee of Treatment of Research in Multiple Sclerosis and European Academy

of Neurology; EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale; MRI: magnetic resonance imaging; MS: multiple sclerosis; PPMS: primary progressive MS; RRMS: relapsing-remitting MS; SPMS: secondary progressive MS; T2: T2 lesions; T2W: T2-weighted lesions.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Search strategy CENTRAL

((mabthera OR rituximab OR rituxan OR (monoclonal NEAR antibod*) OR (MeSH descriptor, Antibodies, Monoclonal, this term only in MeSH products)) AND ((MeSH descriptor, multiple sclerosis, demyelinating diseases, this term only in MeSH products) OR MS)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Appendix 2. Search strategy MEDLINE (PubMed)

- 1. "Rituximab"[Mesh]
- 2. "IDEC C2B8"[All Fields]
- 3. Rituxan[All Fields]
- 4. rituximab[All Fields]
- 5. mabthera[All Fields]
- 6. "anti cd20"[All Fields]
- 7. immunotherap*
- 8. monoclonal antibod*[all fields]
- 9. "Immunotherapy"[Mesh:NoExp]
- 10."Antibodies,Monoclonal"[Mesh:NoExp]

11.1/10 OR

12."Demyelinating Diseases"[Mesh:NoExp]

- 13. "Demyelinating Autoimmune Diseases, CNS" [Mesh:NoExp]
- 14.Demyelinating Diseases*[all fields]
- 15.Demyelinating Disorder*[all fields]
- 16."Multiple Sclerosis"[Mesh]
- 17. "Multiple Sclerosis, Chronic Progressive" [Mesh]
- 18. "Multiple Sclerosis, Relapsing-Remitting" [Mesh]
- 19. "Multiple sclerosis" [all fields]
- 20.12/19 OR

21.11 AND 20

Appendix 3. Search strategy Embase

- 1. 'multiple sclerosis'/exp OR 'demyelinating disease'/de
- 2. ((demyelinating NEAR/3 disorder*):ti,ab,kw) OR ((demyelinating NEAR/3 disease*):ti,ab,kw) OR 'first demyelinating':ti,ab,kw OR cis:ti,ab,kw OR (('clinically isolated' NEAR/2 'syndrome*'):ti,ab,kw)
- 3. 1 OR 2
- 4. rituximab:ti,ab,kw OR 'idec c2b8':ti,ab,kw OR rituxan:ti,ab,kw OR mabthera:ti,ab,kw OR 'anti cd20':ti,ab,kw OR immunotherap*:ti,ab,kw OR ((monoclonal NEAR/2 antibod*):ti,ab,kw)
- 5. 'rituximab'/exp OR 'immunotherapy'/de OR 'monoclonal antibody'/de
- 6. 4 OR 5
- 7. 3 AND 6

WHAT'S NEW

Date	Event	Description
18 February 2021	Amended	Republishing the protocol, broken links in Appendix 2 fixed

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 2, 2021

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

GF wrote the protocol. JK, DH, and CDG provided comments on drafts of the protocol.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

GF: none known

JK: none known

Rituximab for people with multiple sclerosis (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



DH: none known

CDG: none known